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KOBAYASHI, SUGITA & GODA

BERT T. KOBAYASHI, JR. 659-0
JOSEPH A. STEWART 7315-0
First Hawaiian Center, Suite 2600
999 Bishop Street
Honolulu, Hawaii 96813
Telephone: (808) 539-8700

Attorneys for Plaintiff
COCONUT BEACH DEVELOPMENT, LLC

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

Plaintiff,
vs.

COCONUT BEACH DEVELOPMENT
LLC, a Delaware Limited Liability
Company,

FOR THE DISTRICT OF HAWAIl

) CIVILNO. _

) KSC
) COMPLAINT; DEMAND FOR JURY
) TRIAL; SUMMONS
)
)
)

BRYAN BAPTISTE, in his capacity as )
the Mayor ofKauai County; )
DEPARTMENT OF PLANNING, )
COUNTY OF KAUA'!; PLANNING )
COMMISSION, COUNTY OF KAUA'I;)
THEODORE DALIGDIG in his capacity)
as a Member of Planning Commission, ) No Trial Date Set
Kauai County; IMAI AID in his capacity)
as a Member of Planning Commission, )
Kauai County; STUART HOLLINGER )
in his capacity as a Member of Planning )
Commission, Kauai County; STEVE )
WEINSTEIN in his capacity as a )
Member of Planning Commission, Kauai )
County; RANDALL NISHIMURA in his)
capacity as a Member of Planning )
Commission, Kauai County; SANDI )
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KATO-KLUTKE in her capacity as a )
Member of Planning Commission, Kauai)
County; LAWRENCE CHAFFIN JR. in )
his capacity as a Member of Planning )
Commission, Kauai County; and DOES )
1-20, )

)
Defendants )

)
)

COMPLAINT

Plaintiff Coconut Beach Development, LLC, a Delaware limited

liability company ("CBD"), by and through its attorneys, Kobayashi, Sugita

& Goda, and alleges and avers as follows:

PARTIES

1. Plaintiff CBD is a Delaware Limited Liability Company.

2. Defendant County of Kauai ("County") is a Hawaii

municipal corporation, acting under the color oflaw.

3. Defendant Bryan Baptiste ("Baptiste") is a resident of

Kauai, Hawaii and is the Mayor of the County of Kauai. He is sued in his

capacity as the Mayor of Kauai County.

4. Defendant Planning Commission, County ofKauai

("Planning Commission") is an administrative "agency" and a political

subdivision of the County.
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5. On infonnation and belief, Theodore Daligdig, Imai Aiu,

Stuart Hollinger, Steve Weinstein, Randall Nishimura, Sandi Kato-Klutke,

and Lawrence Chaffin Jr. are residents of Kauai, Hawaii and are members of

the Planning Commission, Kauai County (collectively "Planning

Commission Members"). They are sued in their capacities as members of

Planning Commission, Kauai County.

6. Defendants Does 1-20 are persons, partnerships,

corporations, associations, governmental units, trusts or entities whose

names, identities, capacities, activities and/or responsibilities are presently

unknown to Plaintiff and its attorneys despite diligent and good-faith efforts

to ascertain their true names, identities and capacities, who may be, or are,

responsible and/or liable to Plaintiff (individually or collectively) for the

injuries and damages sustained by Plaintiff by acting in a negligent,

wrongful and/or tortious manner presently unknown to Plaintiff which

proximately caused and/or contributed to the damages sustained by Plaintiff.

Accordingly, Plaintiff has sued the unidentified Doe Defendants herein with

fictitious names pursuant to Rule 17(d) ofthe Federal Rules of Civil

Procedure. PlaintitIwill seek leave of Court to amend this Complaint to

allege the true names of the Doe Defendants and describe their activities,

responsibilities and/or capacities when the same is ascertained.

3

Case 1:08-cv-00036-SOM-KSC     Document 1      Filed 01/24/2008     Page 3 of 25



JURISDICTION OF THE COURT

7. The jurisdiction of this Court over the claims arising

under 42 U.S.c. § 1983 is based on 28 U.S.c. § 1343(a).

8. The jurisdiction of this Court over the claims arising

under the Fourteenth Amendments rest on 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1343(a).

9. Additionally, diversity exists sufficient to provide

jurisdiction for this Court pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1332.

VENUE

10. Venue is proper under 28 U.S.c. § 1391 (b) because all

defendants reside within the District of Hawaii, and all of the events or

omissions giving rise to the claim presented herein, either have occurred or

will occur in the District of Hawaii.

FACTS

II. CBD is the fee simple owner of a 20.89 acre parcel of

land located in Waipouli, Kauai that is designated as tax map key nos. 4-3

02: 15, 16 & 20 ("Parcel").

12. The current zoning for the Parcel is in the Urban district

and zoned Resort District (RR-20) and Open District (0).

13. Further, the Parcel is located within the Special

Management Area ("SMA").
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14. CBD sought to develop the CBD Parcel and to construct

Coconut Beach Resort, a planned resort timeshare condominium complex

which would include 343 condominium units and six (6) hotel rooms as well

as a restaurant, a cultural preserve, and 565 parking spaces ("Project").

15. Pursuant to § 8-4.2 of the Kauai Comprehensive Zoning

Ordinance ("CZO"), RR-20 zoning provides that Plaintiff is entitled to build

up to 20 residential units per acre or 40 hotel units per acre. Thus, Plaintiffs

planned Project is within planned density restrictions.

16. As the Parcels are located within the SMA, Plaintiff was

required to get an SMA Use Permit in order to develop its Project.

17. Further, pursuant to the comprehensive zoning ordinance

permit as a procedural requirement as the Parcel is "large enough to qualify

for more than twenty-five (25) dwelling units". The Class IV Zoning permit

was a prerequisite to getting any building permit on the Project.

18. In August, 2005, Walton D.Y. Hong Esq., as the agent

for CBD, filed applications for the SMA Use Permits and Class IV Zoning

permits as well as an application for Project Development Use ("PDU")

permit (collectively "Application") for the Project.1

1 Although the eBD Application was processed contemporaneously with the similar applications
filed by Coconut Plantation Holdings LLC ("CPH") as to tbe parcel designated as TMK 4-3-7: tbese
two projects are unrelated.
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19. The Application was referred to the Planning Department

of the County of Kauai, which then referred the Applications to the

Department of Public Works and the Departmcnt of Water.

20. Further, the Application went through several public

hearings before the Planning Commission and public comment was received

in the form of written and oral testimony.

21. On July 12, 2005, Construction Managemcnt and

Development ("CM&D"), working on behalf of CBD, met in Kauai with

Mayor Bryan Baptiste and other members of his staff to discuss the potential

impacts of the projects on the Kapaa area. In that meeting, the County

clearly informed CM&D that the Mayor's number one concern was traffic

and that CBD would need to do address the traffic impact to the Kapaa area.

22. On October 7, 2005, in a meeting on Kauai between

CM&D and members of Mayor Baptiste's staff, CM&D was informed that

the State's estimated construction costs for the long term improvements

recommended for Kuhio Highway, specifically a proposed road widening

project, would be approximately $25 million of which the County would be

required to provide a matching portion of20% of the estimated $25 million

cost.
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23. At the same October 7,2005 meeting, CM&D was then

advised that Mayor Baptiste insisted that CBD must pay all of County's

obligations to the State and therefore, CBD would be required to pay

$10,000.00 per unit constructed to be applied towards the County's share of

the long term road expansion project, despite the fact that this contribution

was not being imposed on any of the other benefited land owners and was

well beyond CBD's fair-share allocation of these costs in relationship to all

of the other benefitted landowners.

24. Faced with this ultimatum, CBD had no choice but to

agree to these demands.

25. Accordingly, in an October 31,2005 meeting at the

Honolulu offices of CM&D, CBD advised the Mayor that it would make the

required payment to the County. In response, the Mayor raised additional

demands in order for Plaintiffto obtain the County's cooperation to support

the processing of the Applications for permit required for the development

the two Projects.

26. At the January 10, 2006 meeting of the Kauai County

Planning Commission, representatives of Plaintiff discussed the specific

infrastructure commitments and traffic improvements that CBD would be

required to contribute pursuant to the discussions with the County officials,
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which went beyond merely addressing the anticipated impacts on County's

intrastructure by the Project.

27. By way ofletter dated February 16, 2006, CBD complied

with the demands made by Defendants in order to be able to utilize their

property. Accordingly, CBD proposed to commit funding for infrastructure

and traffic improvements in the following amounts:

a. Repairs to the Wailua Wastewater Treatment Plant
- $2,617,394 ($1,473,778 of which is an offset of
the sewer fees).

b. Lift Stations on Aleka Loop and Papaloa Road 
$150,000.

c. Water Storage improvements & transmission as
part of Stable Tank improvements - $1,888,000 (as
on offset of the Facilities Reserve Charges for the
Projects).

d. Deceleration and acceleration lanes on Kuhio
Highway- $250,000.

e. Traffic Study for Kapaa corridor - $125,000.

f. Traffic Improvements to Kuhio Highway 
$3,450,000 (Which is the amount of the $10,000
per unit towards the traffic improvements as
originally demanded by the Mayor).

28. The total cost of these impositions on CBD, would likely

exceed $8.5 million, including the advance payment of water and

wastewater fees, towards the infrastructure repair in terms of fees and

improvements if its entitlements were approved as submitted.
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29. This required commitment far exeeeded the actual

anticipated impact of the Project and far exceeded infrastrueture

requirements and fees imposed on any prior or subsequent developers that

have come before the County for development permits and approvals.

30. In subsequent discussions with the County by and

through the Mayor's Office and the Planning Director's Office, the

Defendants demanded that as part of the improvements required of Plaintiff,

that the Plaintiff would be required to build an extension of Pouli Road from

Kuhio Highway, over and across private property to the Wailua Houselots

rather than the Kuhio Highway widening project previously required.

31. Further, on October 10, 2006, the Kauai Department of

Public Works, through letters from Edward Tshupp, recommended to the

Planning Department that, in addition to paying "all applicable wastewater

fees", including the Sewer Connection Charge and the Wastewater

Treatment Capacity Assessment, CBD would be required to extend the

capacity ofthe Wailua Wastewater Treatment Plant ("WWTP") and improve

the area sewage collection system including the repair and/or replacement of

three sewer pump stations in addition to payment of the standard connection

fees. The October 10, 2006 letter provides in relevant part:

Prior to obtaining approval for County sewer service and
building permit approval from the WWMD, the applicant
shall:

I)
County.

Apply for wastewater service from the

2) Pay all applicable wastewater fees, including
the Sewer Connection Charge, presently 40.12 per square
foot of sewerable area (estimated at $108,788.00) and the
Wastewater Treatment Capacity Assessment, presently
$3,900 per unit (estimated at $1,365,000.00. Fees to be

9
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Wastewater Treatment Capaeity Assessment, presently
$3,900 per unit (estimated at $1,365,000.00. Fees to be
paid shall be as per the County Sewer Ordinanee
assessment at the time of payment, and may be subject to
offsets for improvements constructed by the applicant.

3) The capacity ofthe Wailua WWTP needs to
be expanded to accommodate the additional wastewater
flow from the project, and deficiencies in the sewage
collection system shall be addressed to allow reliable
future operation. The applicant shall relocate the existing
County sewer main and easement crossing through the
property.

All improvement design and construction are subject to
County approval and acceptance. In the event that
building permit approval is requested prior to completion
of the improvements, completion of design and provision
of surety for construction may be considered, subject to
the condition that construction shall be complete prior to
a certificate of occupancy and execution by the applicant
of a waiver to hold the County harmless for any claims or
damages.

32. On January 22,2007, the Kauai Planning Department

issued a letter signed by County planner Mike Laureta and approved by

Planning Director Ian Costa, which recommended approval of the

Application subject to specific conditions, including, among other

requirements that: (a) CBD be required to extend Pouli Road beyond the

Kapaa temporary bypass to the Wailua Houselots, even though this required

construction over private property over which the County had no easement

or right of way, and further (b) that CBD be required to implement the

conditions required by the Department of Public Works in the October 10,

2006 letter, including the obligation to retrofit then entire WWTP to make it

operational.
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33. At its January 23,2007 meeting, the Kauai Planning

Commission considered CBD's Application. Although it approved the

Application, the Planning Commission imposed additional requirements and

conditions above and beyond the requirements already required by the

County administration and far in excess of those conditions imposed on

similarly situated developers whose permit requests came before and after

requests submitted by CBD.

34. On January 24,2007, the Ian Costa, the Director of the

Planning Department issued the written approvals ("Permits") setting forth

the approvals of the Application, subject however to the inclusion of all

conditions, including the additional conditions above and beyond those

agreed to by CBD.

35. The Permits impose conditions which are far greater than

those imposed on similarly-situated applicants and other land owners being

benefitted by the upcoming infrastructure improvements.

SIMILARLY SITUATED DEVELOPMENT PROJECTS:

36. In contrast, on March 27, 2003, the Kauai Planning

Commission approved similar SMA, PDU, and Class IV Zoning permits for

the Waipouli Resort in Waipouli for the construction of 190 resort condo

units, 6 hotel rooms, and ancillary amenities, including a public restaurant,

wedding chapel and public beach access (the "Waipouli Project").

37. Also, on January 26,2005 the Kauai Planning

Commission approved similar SMA, PDU, and Class IV Zoning permits for

the Coco Palms Resort, for construction of 200 condominium units, 104

hotel units, retails shops, property offices, restaurants, assembly rooms (the

"Coco Palms Project").

II
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38. Further, on October 10,2007, the Kauai Planning

Commission approved similar SMA, PDU, and Class IV Zoning Permits for

the Sheraton Kauai for the demolition of 227 of existing 413 hotel rooms

and construction of 382 timeshare units (the "Sheraton Kauai Project,"

together with the Waipouli Project and the Coco Palms Project, all three are

sometimes collectively referred to as the "Other Projects").

39. These Other Projects are similarly situated to those of

CBD Application for numerous reasons, including the following:

a. All three of the Other Projects are

hotel/condominium developments like that ofCBD.

b. All three of the Other Projects were seeking the

same SMA, PDU, and Class IV zoning permits which were also being

requested in the Application.

c. All three of the Other Projects are roughly the

same size in terms of units as the Project.

d. Coco Palms and Waipouli Projects are located

very close to the CBD Project in the general Wailua/Waipouli area.

e. All three of the Other Projects were processed

around the same time period as the CBD Project, having been approved

within the last five years, and particularly the Coco Palms Project, which

was approved within two years before and the Sheraton Project, which was

approved nine months after the CBD Project's Applications were processed.
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40. However, while the CBD Project is similarly-situated to

the three projects listed above, it was not treated similarly.

TRAFFIC IMPROVEMENT REQUIREMENTS

4 I. The conditions imposed on CBD for traffic are far in

excess of any of the traffic conditions imposed upon any of the Other

Projects, much less all ofthe other landowners in the Wailua/Waipouli area,

who also contribute to and are causes of the traffic congestion in this area.

Specifically:

a. The conditions reflect the imposition ofthe highest

traffic improvement cost imposed on any of the comparable projects with the

costs imposed on the Coco Palms Project being less than 60% of the

estimated monetary costs imposed on Plaintiff.

b. The subsequently-approved Sheraton project has a

significantly smaller traffic improvement contribution amount, than imposed

on Plaintiffs Project.

c. Further, the County did not require any significant

traffic infrastructure project from the Waipouli Project, even though this was

in almost the exact same location of the CBD Project.

d. To the extent that the County by the Mayor, the

Planning Director, the Planning Commission, and other County agencies
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have treated Plaintiff differently from the other similarly-situated

development projects, the County would need to have a rational basis for

such a discrepancy in treatment.

e. In addition to the difference in the amounts of total

improvement costs imposed on the CBD Project, none of the Other Projects

and developers that have come before the County for permit approvals

before CBD, and none since CBD, have been required to construct a

"County" road, over and across private property, as a prerequisite to

satisfying the conditions imposed in the permit approvals, as was

required of CBD. In essence, the County by and through the Mayor, the

Planning Director and the Planning Commission have required CBD

purchase and acquire a road right of way, at its own cost, for the benefit of

the County.

f. As such, the condition imposed by the County to

construct the Pouli Road extension (which requires the purchase of privately

owned land from an unrelated third party) was totally irrational and wholly

arbitrary since there is no identifiable rational basis for such disparate

treatment.

g. This condition exceeded the powers of the County

by and through its Mayor, Planning Director and the Kauai Planning

14
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Commission, since the party that owned the private land upon which CBD

was required to construct an "extension" was (a) not even a party to CBD's

permit Applications, and (b) there was no provision for County payment for

the necessary road right of way or easement for this "extension."

WASTEWATER TREATMENT PLANT REQUIREMENTS

42. The conditions imposed on CBD for wastewater are far

in excess of any of the conditions imposed upon any of the other similarly

situated projects. Specifically:

a. Unlike the Coco Palms and Waipouli Projects

which are located in the same area served by the Wailua Wastewater

Treatment Plant ("WWTP"), CBD's Permits require the repair and

restoration of the WWTP to its full permitted treatment capacity as a

condition of permit approval.

b. This was not just to pay for a proportionate share

ofthe costs needed to upgrade the WWTP, in common with other

landowners (and existing commercial developments that take advantage and

use the services provided by the WWTP), but to pay for the cost to make this

WWTP fully operational.

c. There is no identifiable reason for the County to

specifically designate CBD for such a distinction and the imposition of
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monetary payments far in excess of those imposed not just to other

developers seeking similar permits, but other landowners, all of whom bear a

joint responsibility for such maintenance costs.

d. The County's own head of the County Department

of Public Works ("DPW"), Edward Tschupp has acknowledged that DPW

has commissioned engineers to perform an engineering assessment

performed for the County called "The Facility Plan For the Wailua

Wastewater Treatment Plant" (the "Wailua Facility Plan").

e. The Wailua Facility Plan discusses not only the

restoration of capacity of the WWTP, but also addresses various phases of

expansion, including expansion beyond the currently permitted 1.5

million gallons a day.

f. The Wailua Facility Plan is intended to be the

planning tool for the Wastewater Management Division for this area for the

next 20 years.

g. Mr. Tschupp has admitted that onc of the primary

purposes of the Wailua Facility Plan was to determine capacity and

especially to address the existing shortfalls in the WWTP capacity.
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h. The Wailua Facility Plan was solicited in 2004,

prior to the review, consideration and approval of the Coco Palms Permit

approval.

I. However, even though the County was already

aware of the deficiencies and shortfalls in the capacity of the WWTP prior to

the approval of the permit application for the Coco Palms Project, there were

no similar requirements imposed as conditions to the Coco Palms Project

permit approvals, as were imposed in the permit approvals issued for the

CBD Project. Similarly, there was no similar requirement imposed on the

Waipouli Project either. There is no identifiable or justifiable basis for

singling out the CBD Project for such disparate treatment.

J. There is even less justification for treating CBD

differently and instead imposing the entire cost of paying for the County's

past failure to maintain this facility.

POTABLE WATER REQUIREMENTS

43. The conditions imposed on CBD for potable water are far

in excess of any of the conditions imposed upon any of the Other Projects.

Specifically:

a. Despite paying the Water Facilities Reserve

Charge as required under the Kauai County Code and paying for a

17
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significant capital improvement as an offset of such a charge, the CBD

Project is paying for the right to receive potable water from the County for

use in conjunction with the Project, but at the same time were specifically

prohibited by the conditions imposed by the County from using such

potable water for irrigation purposes.

b. While there may be a legitimate public interest in

water conservation, there is no clear rational basis for disparate treatment

Plaintiff on this issue, especially where Plaintiff is required to pay for these

improvements like other applicants, but are not allowed to use such services,

UNLIKE these similarly-situated Other Projects and any other member of

the public.

c. Further, the County of Kauai has no facilities or

infrastructure for CBD to acquire any recycled or reclaimed water for

irrigation use.

BUILDING PERMIT PROCESS

44. Vlhile the other projects are only required to go through

departmental approvals, CBD was required to go through the public hearing

process for Planning Commission approvals. This requirement and

condition is clearly contrary to the general process for such applications and

the Defendants have no possible rational basis for such disparate treatment.
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45. Such disparate treatment ofCBD is in violation of the

right to equal protection guaranteed hy the Fourteenth Amendment of the

u.S. Constitution, which provides in pertinent part: "No State shall make or

enforce any law which shall abridge the privileges or immunities of citizens

of the United States...nor deny to anv person within its jurisdiction the equal

protection of the laws."

46. Similarly, the Hawaii State Constitution provides that:

No person shall be deprived of life, liberty or property
without due process of law, nor be denied the equal
protection of the laws, nor be denied the enjoyment of
the person's civil rights or be discriminated against in the
exercise thereof because of race, religion, sex or ancestry.

Hawaii State Const., art I §5 (emphasis added).

47. The conditions imposed on CBD are significantly

different and impose a far greater burden on them as compared to the

conditions imposed on other similarly situated developments that were

processed by the County of Kauai prior to and after consideration of their

projects.

48. Pursuant to the constitutional protections referred to

above, the County's conditions must have a rational relationship to a

legitimate state interest in order to treat similarly situated persons

19
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differently. See New Orleans v. Dukes, 427 U.S. 297, 303-304, 96 S.Ct.

2513,2516-17,49 L.Ed.2d 511 (1976).

49. Further, the County "may not rely on a classification

whose relationship to an asserted goal is so attenuated as to render the

distinction arbitrary or irrational. It is well established that a city may not

enforce its zoning and land use regulations arbitrarily." Armendariz v.

Penman, 75 F.3d 1311 at 1327, (9th Cir., 1996) (emphasis added).

FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF

(Equal Protection)

50. Plaintiff hereby incorporates and adopts each and every

allegation set forth in this document.

51. Defendants' actions set forth herein were and continue to

be taken under the color of state law as defined in 42 U.S.C. §1983.

52. The equal protection clause as contained in the

Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution prohibits the

Defendants from treating Plaintiff differently from those similarly-situated.

53. As citizens of the United States of America, Plaintiff has

a constitutional right to equal protection under the law afforded by the

Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution.
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54. The right to equal protection clause prohibits the

Defendants from treating Plaintiff differently from other similarly-situated

citizens without a rational basis to do so.

55. The actions of Defendants in regard to the Application

and Permit described above constitute such disparate treatment and are in

violation of both the State and Federal Equal Protection rights.

56. Further, the actions of Mayor Bryan Baptiste in

demanding excessive and illegal contributions of CBD are in excess of any

statutory authority and in violation of CBD's clearly established

constitutional rights.

57. The actions of the Planning Commission Members in

from CBD are in excess of any statutory authority and in violation ofCBD's

clearly established constitutional rights.

SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF

(42 U.S.c. § 1983)

58. Plaintiff hereby incorporates and adopts each and every

allegation set forth in this document.

59. Defendants at all times relevant were under the color of

state law.
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60. Defendants conduct as alleged herein violated Plaintiffs

federal rights, including the rights under the Fourteenth Amendment to the

United States Constitution.

THIRD CLAIM FOR RELIEF

(Civil Rights Attorneys Fees)

61. Plaintiff hereby incorporates and adopts each and every

allegation set forth in this document.

62. As a result of Defendants conduct alleged herein in

violation of 42 U.S.c. § 1983, Plaintiff is entitled to attorneys' fees pursuant

to 42 U.S.C. §1988.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffprays for a judgment as follows:

A. The actions of the Defendants are in violation of Plaintiffs

rights under both the United States and Hawaii State Constitutions and

Plaintiffs right to equal protection.

B. Enjoining Defendants from any further violation of Plaintiffs

rights and atlirmative order requiring each of the subject Defendants to

implement and enforce the permits and approvals for Plaintiff as determined

and ordered by this Court;

C. Ordering the issuance of the Permits with the illegal conditions

deleted;
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D. Awarding damages in an amount to be proven at trial, but in

excess of the $75,000 jurisdictional amount required by 28 U.S.c. §1332;

E. Awarding all attorneys' fees incurred as provided for under 42

U.s.c. § 1988; and

F. Awarding such other and further relief as this Court deems just

and equitable.

DATED: Honolulu, Hawaii, January 24,2008.

1nJ1!Jt;:
BiRT T. KOBAYASHI, JR.
JOSEPH A. STEWART

Attorneys for Plaintiff
COCONUT BEACH DEVELOPMENT, LLC
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